THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JUN - 9 2014

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2010-CP-26-08505
Appellate Case No. 2013-000107

Carolina First Bank n/k/a TD Bank, NA, Petitioner,

v.

BADD, LLC, William McKown and Charles
A. Christenson, Defendants,

Of whom BADD, LLC and William McKown
are Respondents.

BADD, LLC and William McKown, Third-Party Plaintiffs,

v.

William Rempher, Third Party Defendant.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER TD BANK

C. Mitchell Brown
Thomas William McGee III
A. Mattison Bogan
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH, LLP
1320 Main Street/17th Floor

Statement of Issues

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that TD Bank's foreclosure action, which included a request for a deficiency judgment against Respondents pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-660, created a right to a trial by jury for Respondents on TD Bank's request for a deficiency judgment?
- II. Did the Court of Appeals err in reversing the circuit court's order referring this foreclosure action to the Master-in-Equity for a bench trial on a ground not raised by Respondents?
- III. Did the Court of Appeals err in failing to address the circuit court's order on TD Bank's arguments that Respondents' counterclaims and third-party claims also do not give rise to the right to a jury trial because the counterclaims are permissive and subject to being tried before the Master-in-Equity in a bench trial?

Introduction

In accordance with Rule 242(j), SCACR, Petitioner Carolina First Bank n/k/a TD Bank, NA (“TD Bank”) hereby files its brief following this Court’s May 8, 2014 order granting its petition for writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals’ October 24, 2012 Opinion No. 5041 (“the Opinion” or sometimes “*BADD* decision”). *See Carolina First Bank n/k/a TD Bank, NA v. BADD, LLC, et. al.*, 400 S.C. 343, 733 S.E.2d 619 (Ct. App. 2012). The Court of Appeals’ Opinion is in conflict with prior decisions of this Court and inconsistent with statutory provisions governing foreclosure actions. As the appendix and below arguments demonstrate, the circuit court properly referred this foreclosure action to the Master-in-Equity for a bench trial. This Court should reverse the Court of Appeals’ decision and remand this action to the Master-in-Equity.

Statement of the Case

The Court of Appeals held that BADD, LLC and William McKown (“Respondents”) are entitled to a jury trial in this foreclosure action because TD Bank, in its foreclosure complaint, also sought a judgment against the guarantor for any deficiency that may remain following any foreclosure order and sale of the subject property. (App. 199.)

On September 9, 2010, TD Bank filed a foreclosure complaint seeking the total amount due on the mortgages and notes against Respondent BADD. (App. 19-27.) In its foreclosure complaint, TD Bank also requested a deficiency judgment against Respondent William McKown as guarantor of the subject mortgages and notes for any amount that remained unpaid on the mortgages and notes following any foreclosure order and sale. (App. 19-27.) TD Bank alleged in its complaint that S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-650 and § 29-3-660 provided it with the right to foreclose and seek a deficiency judgment

against those persons liable for any remaining indebtedness following the foreclosure sale. (App. 23, 26.) Contemporaneous with its commencement of the foreclosure action, TD Bank filed a motion for an order of reference requesting that the matter be referred to the Master-in-Equity for a bench trial. (App. 77-80.) Respondents answered the complaint and filed counterclaims for unconscionability and preserved other defenses and counterclaims. (App. 81-85.) Respondents demanded a jury trial. (*Id.*) Subsequently, Respondents filed an amended answer, counterclaims, and a third-party complaint raising claims for unconscionability, civil conspiracy, breach of contract, intentional interference with contractual relations and prospective business relations, and breach of fiduciary duty. (App. 96-105.) The trial court allowed the amendment and heard TD Bank's motion for an order of reference. Respondents again demanded a jury trial in their amended pleading and requested an accounting. (App. 96-105.) The trial court held that the matter should be referred to the Master-in-Equity for a bench trial and that Respondents were not entitled to a jury trial on any claims raised in the action because Respondents' claims were permissive. (App. 3-11.)

Respondents appealed. (App. 149.) On appeal, TD Bank argued that the matter was properly referred to the Master and no jury trial rights were available to Respondents. (App. 177-194; App. 187.) The Court of Appeals disagreed and reversed the trial court's order referring the matter to the Master-in-Equity for bench trial. (App.196-99.) The Court of Appeals held that the request for a deficiency judgment against the guarantor, Respondent McKown, was similar in nature to a breach of contract action and entitled him to a jury trial. (App. 198-199.) The Court of Appeals did not

address any arguments related to Respondents' counterclaims and third-party claims. (App. 196-199.)

TD Bank filed a petition for rehearing. (App. 200-214.) The Court of Appeals requested a return from Respondents, but none was filed. (App. 217-218.) In its rehearing petition, TD Bank argued that the Court of Appeals' Opinion overlooked statutes and prior decisions from this Court that pertain to foreclosure actions which establish that no jury trial rights accrue because this foreclosure action, including any request for a deficiency, is an equitable action. (App. 201, 206.) Further, TD Bank argued that the Court of Appeals failed to address Respondents' counterclaims due to its erroneous analysis with respect to the nature of the bank's request for a deficiency judgment. (App. 207-208.) The Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. (App. 219.) TD Bank's petition for certiorari followed. This Court granted TD Bank's petition on May 8, 2014.

Summary of Argument Respecting the Issues Before the Court

First, the Court of Appeals' Opinion, if not altered, would mean that every foreclosure action in South Carolina wherein a deficiency judgment is sought could be forced to being tried before a jury. The Court of Appeals held that the request for a deficiency judgment was a "legal" action for breach of contract, thereby triggering Respondents' right to a jury trial because TD Bank's foreclosure complaint sought judgment "for any indebtedness resulting after the sale of the subject properties." (App. 196-199.) No damages at law, however, were sought in the foreclosure complaint—only the amounts lawfully due and permitted in a foreclosure action as provided by the loan instruments. (App. 19-27.) Since 1791, South Carolina has recognized that a foreclosure action seeking a deficiency judgment sounds in equity and no right to a jury trial exists in

such an action. This remains true today. S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-650 and § 29-3-660 provide that in a foreclosure action where a deficiency judgment is sought, the *court* determines whether the mortgagee is entitled to a deficiency—not a jury. TD Bank’s foreclosure complaint was grounded upon this statutory basis. (App. 23, 26.)

Second, the Court of Appeals erred in utilizing the *Floyd v. Floyd* case to support its conclusion that Respondents were entitled to a jury trial. As demonstrated by the applicable foreclosure statutes and the cases interpreting those statutes, foreclosure suits seeking a deficiency judgment sound in equity. The Court of Appeals overlooked this in its Opinion along with the nature of foreclosure actions. Further, Respondents did not cite the *Floyd* case or argue that the trial court’s ruling on the main purpose rule was in error in its briefing before the Court of Appeals. Respondents’ failure to specifically raise this argument bars the Court of Appeals from using it as the basis for reversal. Hence, the Court of Appeals’ opinion runs contrary to this Court’s long-established issue preservation rules.

Third, due to the Court of Appeals’ ruling that the deficiency request gave rise to a right to a jury trial, the Court failed to address TD Bank’s arguments regarding Respondents’ counterclaims and third-party claims. The counterclaims and third-party claims as raised in this action are all *permissive* because Respondents were not compelled to raise them in response to the foreclosure complaint. By *electing* to raise them as counterclaims and third-party claims in response to the foreclosure suit, however, the Respondents affirmatively waived their right to a jury trial on those claims.

Argument

I. A request for a deficiency judgment in a foreclosure action pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-650 and § 29-3-660 sounds in equity and Respondents are not entitled to a jury trial.

The Court of Appeals erred in finding that TD Bank’s foreclosure action, which included a request for a deficiency judgment against the mortgagor and guarantor, gave rise to a right to a jury trial for Respondents. The Court of Appeals reached its erroneous conclusion by incorrectly holding that a claim for a deficiency judgment is a separate breach of contract action (*i.e.*, a “legal” action as opposed to an equitable one). The South Carolina statutory claim pled by TD Bank in its foreclosure complaint establishes that the *court* makes the determination regarding whether a mortgagee is entitled to a deficiency judgment when the request for a deficiency is brought within the foreclosure action. The request for a deficiency is part of the foreclosure proceeding, which is an equitable proceeding. Asking for a deficiency judgment is not an action for damages at law or a breach of contract action.

A. A request for a deficiency judgment in a foreclosure action is equitable in nature.

TD Bank filed this foreclosure suit and requested a deficiency judgment for any remaining indebtedness that may exist following the foreclosure and sale of the subject properties. (App. 19-27.) In its complaint, TD Bank alleged that S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-650 and § 29-3-660 provided it with the right to foreclose and seek a deficiency judgment against those persons liable for any remaining indebtedness following the foreclosure sale. (App. 23, 26.) TD Bank did not request damages at law—only the financial obligations provided by and pursuant to the loan contracts. Contemporaneous with its complaint, TD Bank filed a motion for an order of reference of the foreclosure suit to the

Master-in-Equity pursuant to Rule 53 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure. (App. 77-80.) The trial court granted the motion, based in part, on the finding that the applicable statutory scheme did not give rise to a right to a jury trial and that the proceeding was equitable in nature. (App. 3-11.) In reversing the trial court, however, the Court of Appeals did not cite or analyze sections 29-3-650 and 29-3-660. The Court of Appeals' oversight and failure to adhere to the statutory regime necessitates reversal.

Prior to 1791, South Carolina followed the common law rule regarding mortgages whereby an action to foreclose a mortgage was regarded as strictly *in rem*. *Perpetual Bldg. and Loan Ass'n of Anderson v. Braun*, 270 S.C. 338, 341-42, 242 S.E.2d 407, 409 (1978). Prior to 1791, in the event of default, the mortgagee was required to commence an action in a *court of equity* to foreclose the mortgage, to bar the mortgagor's right to equity of redemption and to confirm good title in the mortgagee. *Id.* (emphasis added). If a personal or deficiency judgment was sought, the mortgagee was required to commence a separate *action at law* to obtain a judgment. *Id.* (emphasis added).

In 1791, the South Carolina Legislature changed the nature of a mortgage from that of a conveyance on condition to a lien. *Id.* Thus, at the time of the adoption of The South Carolina Constitution of 1868, no jury trial right existed in a foreclosure action seeking a deficiency judgment in the same action. *See Mims Amusement Co. v. S.C. Law Enforcement Div.*, 366 S.C. 141, 145, 621 S.E.2d 344, 345-46 (2005) ("The right to a trial by jury is guaranteed in every case in which the right to a jury was secured at the time of the adoption of the Constitution in 1868.").

The courts of this state have long-abided by the legislative pronouncement evincing the lack of a jury trial right in a foreclosure action seeking a deficiency. In

Anderson v. Pilgram, 30 S.C. 499, 9 S.E. 587 (1888), this Court stated that in this State, an action for foreclosure was a proceeding *in personam* as well as *in rem*, and therefore, a deficiency judgment could be granted in a foreclosure suit sounding in equity. Similarly, in *McConnell, et al. v. Barnes, et al.*, 142 S.C. 112, 140 S.E. 310 (1927), this Court recognized that a judgment for deficiency is an incident of the relief sought in a foreclosure action. In *McConnell*, the Supreme Court noted that the Act of 1791 integrated the action for foreclosure and the action for the deficiency after sale, abandoning the strict distinction between actions *in rem* and *in personam*. *Id.* Thus, two centuries ago, South Carolina adopted a structure by which rights arising under mortgage obligations are adjudged when the action for foreclosure and deficiency judgment are filed together.

This structure exists under the current version of the South Carolina Code and provides that a mortgagee:

shall be deemed the . . . owner of the money lent or due and the mortgagee shall be entitled to recover satisfaction for such money out of the land by *foreclosure and sale according to law*.

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-10 (emphasis added). In codifying these rights, the General Assembly then established the mechanism—“according to law”—through which a mortgagee can obtain payment for the money lent or due under a mortgage contract—foreclosure sale and deficiency judgment. The General Assembly empowered *the court*, not a jury, with the duty to determine whether payment for any remaining indebtedness is owed by a mortgagor or guarantor. The Code states:

In actions to foreclose mortgages *the court may adjudge and direct the payment* by the mortgagor of any residue of the mortgage debt that may remain unsatisfied after a sale of the mortgaged premises in cases in which the mortgagor shall be

personally liable for the debt secured by such mortgage *and if the mortgage debt be secured by the covenant or obligation of any person other than the mortgagor the plaintiff may make such person a party to the action and the court may adjudge payment of the residue of such debt remaining unsatisfied after a sale of the mortgaged premises against such other person and may enforce such judgment as in other cases.*

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-660 (emphasis added). The General Assembly further directed that the power of the court to render such deficiency judgments can arise at the same time as the issuance of the order of foreclosure and sale. Specifically the General Assembly directed:

The court may also render judgment against the parties liable for the payment of the debt secured by the mortgage and direct at the same time the sale of the mortgaged premises. Such judgment so rendered may be entered and docketed in the clerk's office in the same manner as other judgments. Upon the sale of the mortgaged premises the officer making the sale under the order of the court shall credit upon the judgment so rendered for the debt the amount paid to the plaintiff from the proceeds of the sale.

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-650 (emphasis added).

The Court of Appeals failed to adhere to the above statutory regime in its Opinion and its decision conflicts with the prior decisions of this Court recognizing that a foreclosure proceeding, including a request for a deficiency, is equitable in nature. The Court of Appeals also overlooked a number of this Court's decisions on point. In 1912, based on prior versions of the above-cited statutes, this Court held that a foreclosure action which also seeks a deficiency judgment against a guarantor is an action sounding in equity. *See, e.g., Welborn v. Cobb*, 92 S.C. 384, 75 S.E. 681 (1912) (holding that a foreclosure action which also seeks a deficiency judgment is an equitable action); *see also General Plywood Corp. v. Richard Jones, Inc.*, 216 S.C. 322, 57 S.E.2d 636 (1950)

(holding that a foreclosure suit seeking a deficiency sounds in equity and is properly referable to the equity court). In fact, the precise grounds offered by Respondents and adopted by the Court of Appeals in the Opinion were expressly rejected by this Court in 1950 in *General Plywood Corp. v. Richard Jones*. This Court in *General Plywood Corp.*, in affirming the lower court's referral of the case to the Master wrote: "[a]ppellant further contends that, since respondent does not waive a deficiency judgment, the matter is for determination by a jury and not referable." *General Plywood Corp.*, 216 S.C. at 325, 57 S.E.2d at 636. This Court rejected the argument and held that "[t]he purpose of the foreclosure is to fully determine the entire controversy while at the same time protecting the rights of all parties, to determine the amount of the debt in order to disburse the proceedings of the sale, and should there be a deficiency, the *Court of Equity* may give relief by way of a personal judgment." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Similarly, in *Welborn v. Cobb*, the foreclosure complaint was filed against the mortgagor and the mortgagee sought a deficiency against the guarantor in the complaint. *Welborn v. Cobb*, 92 S.C. 384, 75 S.E. 691 (1912). The guarantor claimed the Bank improperly named him in the action. *Id.* The Court rejected the argument and held that the mortgagee "had the right to proceed against both at the same time and in the same action." *Id.* at 387, 75 S.E. at 692-93. The Court found, contrary to the guarantor's arguments, that the action for a deficiency was properly "united in the complaint." *Id.* at 388, 75 S.E. at 693. The Court went on to find that the foreclosure complaint "states only one cause of action." *Id.* In reaching this decision, this Court cited to Section 188 of the South Carolina Code which provided:

[i]f the mortgage debt be secured by the covenant or obligation of any person other than the mortgagor, the plaintiff may make such

person a party to the action, and *the Court* may adjudge payment of the residue of such debt remaining unsatisfied after a sale of the mortgaged premises against such other person, and may enforce such judgment as in other cases.

Welborn, 92 S.C. at 387, 75 S.E. at 693 (emphasis added). The provision quoted above is identical to the provisions in today's Code found at Section 29-3-660. *Welborn v. Cobb*, therefore, precisely supports the notion that the General Assembly devised a structure by and through which a mortgagee could obtain judgment in a foreclosure action against a guarantor for a deficiency should such remain following the foreclosure sale in an action at equity.

Moreover, this Court has recognized the nature of foreclosure proceedings in more recent cases. This Court has "explained that a mortgage 'represents security for an obligation, [but] not full payment thereof.'" *Am. Gen. Fin. Servs. v. Brown*, 376 S.C. 580, 583, 658 S.E.2d 99, 100 (2008) (quoting *Perpetual Bldg. and Loan Ass'n of Anderson v. Braun*, 270 S.C. 338, 340, 242 S.E.2d 407, 408 (1978)). As a result, the deficiency judgment becomes an incident to the foreclosure to ensure full payment of the debt obligation. *Braun*, 270 S.C. at 340, 242 S.E.2d at 408.

In *American General Financial Services*, this Court reversed the Master-in-Equity who ruled that he had discretion as to whether he would enter a deficiency judgment in a case where the foreclosure sale did not satisfy the entire amount due the lender. *Id.* This Court held that in a foreclosure action where the sale leaves money owed to the lender, the Master-in-Equity *must* enter a deficiency judgment. *Id.* Hence, the general rule is that "if the mortgaged premises are sold under a foreclosure decree and fail to bring a sufficient amount to satisfy the debt, the mortgagee is entitled, absent any statutory limitation or waiver on his part, to a personal judgment for the remaining deficiency."

Perpetual Bldg. and Loan Ass'n of Anderson v. Braun, 270 S.C. at 340, 242 S.E.2d at 408 (internal citation and quotation omitted). The same is true in this matter. TD Bank asked for a deficiency judgment and the court, sitting in equity, would be the entity to make that determination, not a jury.

The right to a deficiency judgment in a foreclosure proceeding is not an insignificant right. The Legislature intended for a deficiency judgment to be denied only when it has been “expressly waived” by the mortgagee. *Braun*, 270 S.C. at 343, 242 S.E.2d at 409. TD Bank did not waive its right to a deficiency and expressly pled for a deficiency judgment. (App. 26-27.)

B. None of the cases cited by the Court of Appeals in its Opinion establish that a request for a deficiency judgment in an action seeking to foreclose upon real property gives rise to a right to a jury trial for a guarantor.

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