THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The SUPREME COURT

---

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven H. John, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No: 2010-CP-26-8505  
Appellate Case Number: 2013-000107

---

**RECEIVED**

MAY 12 2015

**S.C. Supreme Court**

Carolina First Bank n/k/a TD Bank, NA, ..... Petitioner,

v.

BADD, LLC and William M. McKown, ..... Respondents.

---

**RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON ORDER  
GRANTING PETITION FOR REHEARING**

---

Richard R. Gleissner, Esquire  
Luke R. Gleissner, Esquire  
Gleissner Law Firm, LLC  
1237 Gadsden St., Suite 200A  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 787-0505  
Attorneys for Respondents

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

### LEGAL ARGUMENT

The appropriate reading of S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-660 under the South Carolina Constitution is one that provides a guarantor a right to trial by jury. The statutes in no way limits the power of a court to use a trial by jury to adjudge the matter asserted against a guarantor. Similarly, the ordinary and natural reading of the text protecting this right of a trial by jury has been the interpretation the Courts of South Carolina and has been used since the inception of such actions. Finally, the legal counterclaims regarding the conspiracy to and breach of the guarantee asserted in direct response to the legal claims for breaching that same guarantee brought by the Bank entitle Mckown to a right to trial by jury.

I. *South Carolina's foreclosure statutes in no way limit the ability for the Court to adjudge the legal claims asserted against a guarantor through the use of a trial by jury.*

In interpreting a statute, the Court must first consider and determine the intent of the enacting body. See *Brown v. Sikes*, 188 S.C. 288, 198 S.E. 854, 855 (1938). Further, the court must ascertain this intent from “the words used and the subject-matter to which the statute relates.” *Lytle v. S. Ry. Carolina Div.*, 171 S.C. 221, 171 S.E. 42, 43 (1933) (citing *Petri v. Commercial Nat. Bank*, 142 U.S. 644, 650, 12 S. Ct. 325, 326, 35 L. Ed. 1144 (1892)). Similarly, every presumption must be made in favor of reading a statute so as to avoid drawing into question whether it will be declared unconstitutional unless its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no doubt that it conflicts with the constitution. See *Gold v. S.C. Bd. of Chiropractic Examiners*, 271 S.C. 74, 78, 245 S.E.2d 117,

119–20 (1978). The intent of the legislature, as evidenced by the text and subject matter of the statute can in no way be read as limiting the adjudication of legal matters to the equity court. Such a reading is not only unnatural and unreasonable, but such a reading would clearly render the statute as unconstitutional. Further, the jurisprudence interpreting and applying the statute and its antecedents have read it to include the right to trial by jury. Finally, the genesis and purpose of the statute clearly contemplate the ability of actions against guarantors being heard before a trial by jury.

- A. The words used and subject matter to which the statute relates makes clear the intent of the legislature was never to limit the hearing of such legal matters to the equity court.

The foreclosure statutes as enacted and embodied in S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-610 et seq. establishes a method of bringing a mortgage foreclosure suit to have a mortgaged property sold and the proceeds of sale applied against the debt secured by the property. Similarly, the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure provide for additional guidance of how such a foreclosure action may be conducted. See SCRCP Rules 53 and 71. The relevant section of the foreclosure statute regarding the joining of actions against guarantors states:

In actions to foreclose mortgages ... if the mortgage debt be secured by the covenant or obligation of any person other than the mortgagor the plaintiff may make such person a party to the action and the court may adjudge payment of the residue of such debt remaining unsatisfied after a sale of the mortgaged premises against such other person and may enforce such judgment as in other cases.

S.C. Code Ann. § 29-3-660. A plain reading of this statute can be read as providing for the joining of a guarantor within a foreclosure action. A guarantor can be reasonably described as an obligation of a person supporting the debt. See *Black's Law Dictionary* (10th ed. 2014)(defining a guarantee as "a promise to answer for the payment of some debt"); see contra S.C. Code Ann. § 36-9-102 (defining guarantee as a “supporting obligation” and not an obligation “securing” a debt). Thus,

whether a guarantor may be joined to an action to foreclose appears to be within a reasonable reading of the statute and is not raised. The operable language for purposes of the issue presented, however, is not one of whether joinder is proper, but whether a master in equity is granted the sole power through this statute to decide legal controversies in an action where the guarantor is joined. The plain reading of the statute does not provide for such an interpretation and, therefore, should not be read for such a proposition.

The operative language of the statute regarding who has the right to make the legal determination is most reasonably read to include a trial by jury. The specific language pertaining to the right to decide the legal matters and whether there remains a right to trial appears to be asserted in “the court may adjudge.” How this Court will define the scope of the term “Court” appears to be the central issue in determining the impact of the statute. “A statute as a whole must receive practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of lawmakers.” *Sloan v. S.C. Bd. of Physical Therapy Exam'rs*, 370 S.C. 452, 468, 636 S.E.2d 598, 606–07 (2006). Similarly, even the “[s]ubtle [...] construction of statutory words for the purpose of expanding a statute's operation is prohibited. *Walton v. Walton*, 282 S.C. 165, 318 S.E.2d 14 (1984). The construction limiting the term “court” to be only the court of equity requires that this Court read the word “court” so as to expand its operation and limit its scope in such a way that previous readings of the term in prior versions of this statute and other statutes within this Article are no longer applicable. Such a reading, therefore, must necessarily fail.

The term “Court” in this statute is most reasonably read to include other branches of the courts of South Carolina in conjunction with the equity court. The South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, when addressing proceedings of foreclosure specifically states “[a]ctions to foreclose

liens or obtain partition of real property shall be tried by **the court**, and shall **ordinarily** be referred to a master pursuant to Rule 53.” SCRCP 71 (emphasis added). Similarly “[i]n an action [...] for foreclosure, some or all of the causes of action in a case **may** be referred to a master or special referee by order of a circuit judge.” SCRCP 53 (emphasis added). These rules and the words contained therein would appear to be superfluous and meaningless were the term “Court” in the statute at issue be read to require all causes of action be referred to the equity court as opposed to “ordinarily” or that they “may be referred.” Reading the statute so as to provide the circuit court the ability to hear certain causes of action, especially legal actions, would more reasonably suit the wording of the statute.

In fact, this is how the Courts of South Carolina have read this term in the past. The term “court” as used in this statute has repeatedly been read not only to limit the ability of the Equity Court to render such a judgment, but, to the contrary, to provide exclusive jurisdiction to the circuit court in actions such as the present action against the Guarantor. In *Gray v. Toomer*, the Court required that a money judgment be had through the circuit court as opposed to the equity court. 39 S.C.L. 261, 262 (S.C. App. L. 1852). Similarly, in *Hall v. Young*, an award of a deficiency judgment was held to be within the jurisdiction of the circuit court. 29 S.C. 64 (1888). Again in *Williams v. Beard*, the Supreme Court held the court of equity could only award relief in the form of the sale of property in foreclosure proceeding, reserving certain actions to the Circuit Court. 1 S.C. 309, 324 (1870). Then in *Anderson v. Pilgram*, noting that as the mortgagee is required to bring the action first to the circuit court in order to have the sale ordered by the Equity Court, it was held the circuit court was also able to hear the action for the personal judgment. 30 S.C. 499, 9 S.E. 587 (1889). Finally, in the Supreme Court’s decision in *Perpetual Bldg. & Loan Ass’n of Anderson v. Braun*, the Court

affirmed the circuit court's award of deficiency. 270 S.C. 338, 242 S.E.2d 407 (1978). Reading the term "Court" to limit whether only the Equity Court has the power to render judgment on legal matters not only is not the most reasonable reading, but also disregards centuries of jurisprudence.

In addition, and perhaps more importantly, the term "court" has yet to be read as precluding the use of trial by jury for the rendering of such a judgment. Perhaps the best example of this is the Supreme Court's decision in *Welborn v. Cobb*, 92 S.C. 384, 75 S.E. 691 (1912). The Supreme Court in *Cobb*, while discussing the joinder of claims under the laws enacted in 1894 which similarly contained the operable language "the court may adjudge", gave no import to the language as impacting the right to trial by jury. *Id.* In the ninth paragraph of the Supreme Court's opinion in *Cobb*, the court made clear that a trial by jury on the claims brought against the guarantor could and were, in fact, heard before a jury. *Id.* at 694. The action against the guarantor regarding the deficiency, was both joined in the foreclosure action and heard by the jury. *Id.* South Carolina jurisprudence has continuously interpreted the term "court" in such statutes to not preclude the use of trial by jury. A reading to the contrary is not appropriate.

- B. An interpretation limiting the term "Court" to only include the Equity Court renders the statute, at the very least, with the appearance that it may be unconstitutional.

Reading the statute so as to allow for a guarantor to retain his right to trial by jury is not only the most practical, reasonable, and fair way of interpreting the statute, but also allows the statute to be read in accordance with the South Carolina Constitution. South Carolina courts have long held that the "Legislature is, practically, omnipotent in the matter of legislation, except insofar as it is restrained by the Constitution, either expressly or by necessary implication." *Floyd v. Parker Water & Sewer Sub Dist.*, 203 S.C. 276, 17 S.E.2d 223, 226 (1941). "When the issue is the

constitutionality of a statute, every presumption will be made in favor of its validity and no statute will be declared unconstitutional unless its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no doubt that it conflicts with the constitution.” *Gold*, at 78, 245 S.E.2d 117, 119–20. Reading the term “court” so as to limit the jurisdiction of such judgments to the equity court would have the effect of removing the guarantor’s constitutional right to trial by jury on actions at law against it. While a guarantor has always had the right to waive his right to a trial by jury, a mere statute may not remove this right under South Carolina law. Thus, not only would such a reading be strained and grossly expand the impact of the words used, but it would also render the statute unconstitutional. See *Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts*, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011)(“courts will reject a statutory interpretation that would lead to an absurd result”).

Article 1, Section 14 of the South Carolina Constitution plainly states “[t]he right of trial by jury shall be preserved inviolate.” This Supreme Court has held that:

“the great right of trial by jury has existed from time immemorial in all those forms of actions at common law which were in use before the adoption of the Code, such as assumpsit, debt, [and] covenant, [...] and no doubt such right exists in the actions provided by the code as a substitute for these common-law actions [...].”

*Frazer v. Bratton*, 26 S.C. 348, 2 S.E. 125, 127 (1887). As an action on a guarantee is necessarily an action seeking money damages and a remedy at common law, it would have afforded the guarantor a right to have the case tried by jury in the Circuit Court. See *Smith & Co. v. Bryce*, 17 S.C. 538 (1882)(a suit seeking ordinary remedy at common law entitles a defendant to have his case tried by a jury); *Airfare, Inc. v. Greenville Airport Comm'n*, 249 S.C. 265, 269, 153 S.E.2d 846, 848 (1967)(holding an action for damages for a breach of contract is an action at law and either party has the right of trial by jury). The Supreme Court in *Johnson v. South Carolina National Bank*,

specifically held that an action against a guarantor was legal and that it entitled the guarantor a jury trial. 292 S.C. 51, 354 S.E.2d 895 (1987); see also *S. Bank & Trust Co. v. Harley*, 295 S.C. 423, 368 S.E.2d 908 (1988)(holding that an action on a guarantee seeking a deficiency was an action of law); *TranSouth Fin. Corp. v. Cochran*, 324 S.C. 290, 478 S.E.2d 63 (Ct. App. 1996)(“it is well settled that a guarantor's liability is an independent contractual obligation”). The guarantor’s right to trial by jury for legal actions brought against it cannot be removed through a strained reading of the statute limiting the term “court” to the equity court.

- C. Reading the term “Court” to provide for the circuit court, and by extension the use of a trial by jury, to hear the legal action brought against a guarantor is consistent with the purpose and development of the Statute.

The genesis and development of the statute, and the foreclosure statutes generally, provides further support that the joinder of a guarantor to a foreclosure action would not have removed his right to have the legal matters heard in a trial by jury. Prior to 1791, South Carolina, with its legal precedents in English law, initially adopted a title theory of mortgages. Under this theory, the borrower legally owns the property during the term of the mortgage. This theory of mortgage law necessarily entailed a distinct delineation of the actions against the borrower’s rights relating to the property (his right of redemption) and the actions against the borrower’s personal obligation on the note. Under the initial law in South Carolina, a mortgagor would bring a foreclosure action against the borrower so as to remove the borrower’s right of redemption. This action was considered *in rem* as it necessarily effected, and only effected, the borrower’s equitable rights in the real property. Such an action was brought before the Chancery Court, as the order of the Chancery Court only effected the equitable rights of the borrower. If the lender wished to have a personal judgment against the borrower, the lender was required to bring a separate action in the court of common law in an *in*

*personam* action on the note. Similarly, any action against a guarantor was necessarily brought in the court of common pleas as it sought a personal judgment. It is with this legal backdrop that the right to trial by jury was memorialized in the first Constitution of South Carolina in 1790.

In *McConnell et al. v. Barnes et al.*, this Court addressed the development of foreclosure actions after the adoption of the 1790 Constitution:

after the passage of the act of 1791, which declared that the fee to mortgaged property should continue in the mortgagor (the mortgagee having only a lien thereon), the change of the law created also a change in the practice, and that it became proper to include in a decree of foreclosure a direction to report the deficiency, after applying the proceeds of sale to the mortgage debt, and to then allow the mortgagee a judgment for the deficiency.

Later, the act of 1894 was passed [the present genesis of Section 29-3-650], allowing the mortgagee, in the action of foreclosure, to include in the decree a personal judgment against the mortgagor for the amount of the mortgage debt ; that judgment be entered up, constituting a lien upon all other real estate, and later to be credited with the net proceeds of the foreclosure sale.

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